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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION

CHRISTINA RICKS,
Plaintiff,
VS. No. 1:19-cv-4253IMSMJID
PEOPLEREADY STAFFING AGENCY,

TESSAWETHERALD, and
SHAMRA TERRY,

N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendan.

ENTRY GRANTING MOTION FOR LEAVE TO PROCEED IN FORMA PAUPERIS,
SCREENING COMPLAINT, AND DIRECTING FURTHER PROCEEDINGS

Pending before the Court are Plaintiff Christina Ricks’ CompldHiting No. 1], and
Motion for Leave to Proceeth Forma Pauperis[Filing No. 4. This Order addresses Ms.
Ricks Motion, screens her Complaint pursuan& U.S.C. § 1915(e)(2pand directs further
proceedings.

l.
MOTION TO PROCEED IN FORMA PAUPERIS

28 U.S.C. 8§ 1915(gpermits the Court to authorize a plaintiff to file a lawsuit “without
prepayment of fees” if the plaintiff “submits an affidavit” derstvating thashe lacks tk assets
to pay the filing fee at this time28 U.S.C. § 1915(a)(1) Ms. Ricks’ Motion for Leaveto
Proceedin Forma Pauperis[2], meets this standard and is therefGRANTED. 28 U.S.C.
§1915(a)

The Court notes that, whilen forma pauperisstatus allows the plaintiff to proceed
without pre-payment of the filing fee, the plaintiff remains liable for thd feke. Robbins v.

Switzer,104 F.3d 895, 898 (7th Cir. 199 very in forma pauperiditigant is liable for the
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filing fee; “all [18 U.S.C.] 8§ 1915(a) does for any litigant is exctlsepre-payment of fees”)
(emphasis in original).The Court does not have the authority to waive the filing fee, and it
remains due despite plaintiffis forma pauperistatus. Fiorito v. Samuels2016 WL 3636968,
*2 (C.D. lll. 2016)(“The Court does not have the authoritywaive a filing fee”);McDaniel v.
Meisner 2015 WL 4773135, *5 (E.D. Wis. 201fgame principle). The filing fee fan forma
pauperis litigants is $350. SeeUSDC Fee Schedule dtttps://www.insd.uscourts.gov/fees
financiakinformation (stating that the $400 filing fee includes a $50 administrativebigethat
the administrative fee “does not apply to...persons granted in fpauperis status und@g
U.S.C. 8§ 1919. Immediate payment is not required; however, the $35@noalremains owg.
[.
SCREENING

A. Screening Standard

Pursuant t®8 U.S.C. 8§ 1915(e)(2}he Court shall dismiss a case brought by a plaintiff
proceedingn forma pauperis‘at any time if the court determines that . . . the action . . . is
frivolous or maicious; . . . fails to state a claim on which relief may bengd; or . . . seeks
monetary relief against a defendant who is immune from sudf.telin determining whether a
complaint states a claim, the Court applies the same standanthen addreisgy a motion to
dismiss undeFederal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(@eelLagerstrom v. Kingstar463 F.3d
621, 624 (7th Cir. 2006) 0 survive dismissal:

[the] complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, acceptdduasto state a

claim for relief that is plausible on its face. A claim has faglalsibility when

the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court sowdihe reasonable

inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.

Ashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
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B. Complaint
In her Complaint, Ms. Ricks alleges that she wagployed by Bople Ready Staffing
Agency (‘People Ready, under the supervision of Tessa Wetherald and Shamra Terry, &nd wa

assigned to work at Cummins Engine Compa@ufhming). [Filing No. 1 at 2] According to

Ms. Ricks, Ms. Wetherald and Ms. Terry told her that sloellde be making $13 per hqur
directed her to lie on her applicatitny not listing a prior felop conviction and told her that

they would bypass her drug screeninfFiling No. 1 at 2] During her first two weeks of

employment, Ms. Ricks did not receive a paycheck stub unticehmplained to People Ready

staff. [Filing No. 1 at 2] Ms. Ricks alleges that, when she finally received lagcpeck stub, it

showed that she was only being paid $12 per hokitingg No. 1 at 2] Ms. Ricks alleges that

the staff at People Ready told her that “there was a mistake di@ohourly pay” and she “was

accidentally told” that she would be paid $13 peur. [Filing No. 1 at 2 However, she

alleges, her supervisor at Cummidames Batiztold her that his company was paying People
Ready $13 per hour for each employael, thereforeit was illegal for People Ready to be

paying its employees only $12 per holifiling No. 1 at 23.]

Ms. Ricks states that, after continued complaints, she “wadenlemthout a weelater for
pay at $13.00 an hour,” but People Ready refused to pay her at gadavdhe first week of her

employment, during which she worked 24 hourBilifjg No. 1 at 3] Ms. Wetlerald and Ms.

Terry informed her that she would only be paid at the $12 per houroratef first week, even

though she received a raise to $13 per hour starting in the second vr@ekg No. 1 at 3

According to Ms. Ricks, Ms. Wetherald and Ms. Terry told her to sfgakingto Mr. Batiz
about her hourly pay, and they also directed Mr. Batiz to stop speadifPeople Ready

employees about their hourly paykillng No. 1 at 3] Ms. Ricks alleges that Ms. Wetherald and
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Ms. Terry threatened Mr. Batiz, saying that they knew peopfeuatmins and could get him
fired if he did not stop talking to the People Reamhp®yees about their wagegziljng No. 1 at
3.] Ms. Ricks states that she “believes this is the reason Peeat®y/Rvill no longer assign any

more jobs to her.” Hiling No. 1 at 3]

Ms. Ricks asserts that Defendants violdted civil rights and state and federal law in the
following ways: (1) having her lie on her application “to be placednpleyment she isot
eligible for financial gain;” (2promising her $13 per hour but only paying her $12 per hour;
(3) telling her not to discuss her pay with others; and (4) “na@donproviding her with
assignments.” She asserts that this conduct violates the air Smndards Act ESLA"), the
National LaborRelationsAct (“NLRA”), and equal protection law, and amounts to deliberate
indifference, fraud, breach of contract, negligent misrepresemtatnd intentional infliction of

emotional distress. Fjling No. 1 at 4 She seeks $100,000 from each Defendant as

compensatory and punitive damagesiling No. 1 at 5

To the exent that Ms. Ricks intends to bring a claim for violation of heil cights
pursuant tod2 U.S.C. § 1983including her right to equal protectioshe has not alleged facts
satisfying the‘'under color of state law” requiremeaf that statute.Seeg e.g, London v. RBS
Citizens, N.A 600 F.3d 742, 746 (7th Cir. 2010’8 1983 actions may only be maintained
against defendds who act under color of state law.”). Ms. Ricks cannot maintain a cause of
action for the alleged violation of her civil rights by her private emplayel supervisorsSee

id. (*And although private persons may also be sued under § 1983 when they act under color of


https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=3
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=3
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=3
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=3
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=3
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=3
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=4
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=4
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=5
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317565158?page=5
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NDFE80F60AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NDFE80F60AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NDFE80F60AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I7ed932ca3d9111df9988d233d23fe599/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_746
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I7ed932ca3d9111df9988d233d23fe599/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_746
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I7ed932ca3d9111df9988d233d23fe599/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_746
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I7ed932ca3d9111df9988d233d23fe599/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_746
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I7ed932ca3d9111df9988d233d23fe599/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_746
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I7ed932ca3d9111df9988d233d23fe599/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0&fragmentIdentifier=co_pp_sp_506_746
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I7ed932ca3d9111df9988d233d23fe599/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I7ed932ca3d9111df9988d233d23fe599/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/I7ed932ca3d9111df9988d233d23fe599/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0

state law, they may not be sued for merely private conduct, no mattediscriminatory or
wrongful’) (internal quotation marks and citation omittéd).

To the extent tha Ms. Ricks is attempting to assert a claim of employment
discrimination, she has not alleged that she was discriminatedsagainthe basis of any
particularprotectedcharacteristic, such as her genderace. Sege.g, Univ. of Texas Sw. Med.
Ctr. v. Nassar570 U.S. 338, 342 (2013stating that Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 200G seq,
prohibits statusased discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, or nationah)origi
Similarly, Ms. Rickshas not alleged that she was retaliated against for complaibmg a
practice thatconstituted workplace discriminationSee42 U.S.C.A. § 20008 (prohibiting
discrimination against an employee based on the fact that shegmsstd any practice made an
unlawful employment practice by this subchapter

To the extent that Bl Ricks is attempting to assertause of actiomnder the NRA,
this Court is without jurisdiction to adjudicate sugltlaim. The NLRA created the National
Labor Relations Boardti{e “Board) to enforce its provisions, and the Board has “primary
jurisdiction” over issues concerning unfair labor practicéseSan Diego Bldg. Trades Council,
Millmen’s Union, Local 2020 v. GarmpB59 U.S. 236, 245 (1959)To that endthe Supreme
Court has held that the NLRAfe-empts state and federal court jurisdiction to remedy conduct
that is arguably protected or prohibited by the AcAmalgamated Ass’'n of St., Elec. Ry. &

Motor Coach Emp. of Am. v. Lockridg#03 U.S. 274,25 (1971) (citing Garmon 359 U.Sat

! Ms. Ricks also references “deliberate indifference,” whick @ourt notes isa standard
applying to constitutional claims by prisoners and is not a fedstg cause of action or
otherwise applicable to this @asSee e.g.Farmer v. Brennan511 U.S. 825, 828 (1994)A
prison official’'s ‘deliberate indifference’ to a subsiahtrisk of serious harm to an inmate
violates the Eighth Amendment.”).
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245). Accordingly, the Court does not have jurisdiction to adjudicate Rilsks’ claim that her
employer violated the NLRAbecause she did not first bring those claims to the Board

In addition, Ms. Ricks has not alleged fastating aclaim for a violation of the FLSA.
Although she asserts that People Ready paid her a wage l@amewtiat was agreed upon and
Ms. Wetherald and Ms. Terry asked her to lie on her job applicationjctestr her not to discuss
her wages with others, and refused to give her assignments based onddissagsions, none
of these allegations appear to eomithin the purview of the FLSA, which regulatéings like
minimum wage, maximum hours, and overtime p8ge29 U.S.C. 8§ 202206, 207.

The rest of the causes of action identified by. Rgks are state law claims. Although
the Court expresses no opinion as to whether Ms. Ricks can stiaiengor relief under any of
these theories, the Court concludes that, because nalfet®@m has been stated, it is without
supplemental jurisdt®on to consider the state law claims

The Court is mindful of Ms. Rickgro sestatus and its attendant duty to construe her
pleadings liberally.See e.g.Kiebala v. Boris 928 F.3d 680, 684 (7th Cir. 2019)evertheless
becauseMs. Ricks’ factual allegations do not state a plauditieralclaim for relief, andsince
the Court does not have supplemental jurisdiction to consider hetataclaimsher Complaint
must be dismissedConsistent with the general policy thab selitigants should be given ample
opportunity to correct deficienciesgeid., Ms. Ricks shall have untNovember 30, 2019 to file
an AmendedComplaint that adequately sets forth a basis for this Court t@isggurisdiction
and provides ad short and plain statement aetclaim showing thgshe]is entitled to relief

Fed. R. Civ. P. 8
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1.
FURTHER PROCEEDINGS

Based on the foregoing, Ms. Ricks’ Motion for Leave to Prodedebrma Pauperis[2]
is GRANTED, and her Complaint, [1], iBISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE. Ms. Ricks
shall have until December 2, 2019 to file an Amended Complaint that addresses the
deficiercies outlined in thiOrder and otherwise complies with federal pleading standards.

Failure to do so may result in dismissal of this case witlugieg.

Date: 10/31/2019 OWMW\W m

Hon. Jane M!aggm>s—Stinson, Chief Judge
'United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana
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